RECEIVED

Nov 01 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MANDY MORROW FORTSON,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000566

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the denial of appellant's right to be present at the selection of her jury requires the reversal of this case where appellant testified that she had no involvement in the crime?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 19, 2017, a Richland County grand jury indicted appellant Mandy Morrow Fortson for attempted murder, discharging a firearm into a dwelling, and breach of peace of a high and aggravated nature. R. 739. On May 17, 2021, Fortson's jury was selected and pre-trial motions were heard despite her absence due to illness. R. 1 – 4, 57, l. 3 – 59, l. 20. After recessing May 18 because of her illness, Fortson's trial resumed on May 19, 2021, and she was present. R. 1, 13, l. 10 – 21. The Honorable Robert E. Hood presided over Fortson's jury trial. R. 1. Byron E. Gipson, April W. Sampson, and Emily M. Nellerhoe represented the State. R. 1. Theo Williams and Anna Maria Williams represented Fortson. R. 1. The jury convicted Fortson. R. 723, l. 20 – 724, l. 15. Judge Hood sentenced Fortson to a total of twenty years' imprisonment (concurrent five-year terms of imprisonment for breach of peace and the gun charge set to run consecutive to a fifteen-year term of imprisonment for attempted murder). R. 736, l. 15 – 24. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant submits that the constitutional deprivation in this case is a question of law and is subject to de novo review.

ARGUMENT

The denial of appellant's right to be present at the selection of her jury requires the reversal of this case where appellant testified that she had no involvement in the crime.

Factual and Procedural Background

Fortson's Testimony

The jury heard three versions of a shooting that took place in Columbia on February 22, 2017. Appellant Mandy Morrow Fortson ("Fortson"), who lived alone in a single-family residence, testified that she was awakened by the sound of breaking glass. R. 557, l. 2 – 16. She heard people talking in her kitchen. R. 557, l. 12 – 16. She pulled a revolver that had belonged to her grandfather from under her mattress. R. 557, l. 25 – 558, l. 7. R. 653, l. 23 – 24.

Fortson had not fired the gun for at least two years. R. 558, l. 16 – 20. She fumbled with the gun and the ammunition in her dark bedroom. R. 558, l. 21 – 559, l. 18. Some of the ammunition she found was only spent shell casings and she attempted to load the gun with live ammunition. R. 558, l. 21 – 559, l. 18.

Fortson left her bedroom and confronted three Black males in her kitchen. R. 560, l. 11 – 561, l. 6. In a loud voice she repeatedly told the men, "get out of here." R. 558, l. 21 – 559, l. 18. She heard one of the men say something like "that crazy white lady" when they "took off out the door." R. 561, l. 1 – 18. Fortson followed the men outside and watch them run to the back of her property which was swampy and wooded. R. 561, l. 17 – 562, l. 12. R. 589, l. 3 – 25. She kept yelling "get out of here" when she heard gunfire and saw muzzle fire. R. 562, l. 11 – 563, l. 3.

Fortson then went back inside her home and tried to secure the door where the men had broken in. R. 563, l. 4 – 15. She went to bed and fell asleep without calling the police. R. 563, l. 18 – 564, l. 3. Fortson did not call the police because the police had done nothing in the past when

she called them about four other attempted break-ins. R. 553, l. 2 – 11. Fortson never fired her gun that night. R. 563, l. 16 – 17. She did not wake up until the police knocked on her door. R. 564, l. 1 – 15.

The State's Theory – Antonio Jones and Roman Cruz

The second version of events heard by the jury was the State's case in which a racially-motivated, crazed Fortson shoots a Black man outside of his apartment, shoots at a Latino man's house, and resisted arrest. R. 645, l. 12 – 646, l. 13. The Black man who was shot in the wrist and hip was Antonio Jones ("Jones") who lived in an apartment building that backed up to Fortson's property. R. 307, l. 7 – 21. R. 316, l. 7 – 13. R. 320, l. 1 – 16. The Latino man whose house received gunfire that night was Roman Cruz ("Cruz") and his property also backed up against Jones' apartment building and Fortson's property. R. 407, l. 5 – 410, l. 6.

Jones testified he lived in an apartment with his girlfriend, Tonya Mills ("Mills") and Mills' son. R. 303, l. 12 – 304, l. 2. Jones settled in for the evening and began watching a basketball game when he heard gunshots. R. 305, l. 20 – 307, l. 24. Jones was used to hearing gunshots. R. 308, l. 2 – 10. He heard about eight shots and the shots stopped. R. 308, l. 16 – 23.

Mills also heard this first round of gunfire and said she heard "eight to ten" shots. R. 220, l. 20 – 24. The police took Fortson's grandfather's gun, a Smith and Wesson .41 caliber revolver, when they searched her house. R. 283, l. 12 – 18. It held "five to six" rounds according to the police's crime scene investigator. R. 296, l. 1 – 4.

Both Mills and Jones agreed there were two separate batches of gunshots. R. 221, l. 3 – 9. R. 308, l. 16 – 309, l. 14. Mills said the second batch of gunshots began about ten minutes after the first. R. 221, l. 3 – 9. She heard "six to eight" shots in this batch. R. 221, l. 3 – 9. Jones said it was a 5-7 min break between the batches of shots. R. 337, l. 4 – 10. Mills and Jones said during

this second set of gunfire, one of the shots broke the glass of their sliding door. R. 221, l. 3 – 11. R. 309, l. 11 – 16.

Jones went outside and heard “a bunch of commotion, fussing.” R. 312, l. 1 – 4. Jones saw Fortson standing in her yard by a shed “hollering.” R. 314, l. 1 – 13. He told Fortson to “chill out” and stop making so much noise, warning her that kids were in the apartment. R. 314, l. 8 – 13. Jones thought there was more than one person, but only saw Fortson. R. 314, l. 14 – 20.

Fortson replied that she did not care. R. 316, l. 3 – 6. Jones said he cared and then felt that he had been shot. R. 343, l. 7 – 23. He went back into his apartment and waited on help. R. 318, l. 22 – 319, l. 12. Jones did not hear Fortson make any racist statements. R. 321, l. 11 – 15.

Cruz, his wife, and kids were eating dinner in their single-family residence when Cruz heard a gunshot. R. 411, l. 21 – 412, l. 17. He looked out the window and saw Fortson, who he knew as his neighbor, talking with someone at the apartments. R. 412, l. 10 – 17. R. 415, l. 1 – 11. Cruz testified, “Well, then I heard this guy screaming, like, he wasn’t paying or something like that, and then I, I heard this woman talking, you know. She said she’s going to kill Mexican and the blacks and, and the dog.” R. 412, l. 21 – 413, l. 3. In the Spanish version of his statement, Cruz quoted Fortson as using the n-word instead of saying “blacks.” R. 445, l. 1 – 6. Cruz had a German Shephard. R. 413, l. 1 – 3.

Cruz heard more gunshots and one of them broke a window in his house. R. 413, l. 13 – 22. He watched from inside his house and saw Fortson “on the fence line with a gun in her hand and, and shooting, like through my house and, and, and the neighbor apartment complex.” R. 414, l. 20 – 25. He saw Fortson fire “multiple times.” R. 417, l. 5 – 13.

Cruz’s wife called 911 and handed the phone to him. R. 446, l. 6 – 447, l. 10. Cruz said he was on the phone with the 911 operator during the time he saw Fortson screaming and shooting.

R. 447, l. 13 – 451, l. 11. Cruz testified on cross-examination, and over the solicitor’s objection, that the 911 operator should have been able to hear the shots being fired. R. 450, l. 7 – 15.

The 911 Calls

The third version of the night’s events came from the State’s admission of eleven calls to 911 from that night.¹ State’s Ex. 65. The 911 custodian said she received a request to pull 911 calls associated with the case. R. 147, l. 7 – 24. None of the calls are from Cruz. State’s Ex. 65. R. 530, l. 3 – 538, l. 7. The solicitors tried to recall the 911 operator after Cruz testified, but Judge Hood would not allow it because the testimony would be either speculation or pose a discovery problem if Cruz’s call, in fact, existed. R. 530, l. 3 – 538, l. 7.

The third version of the shooting from the 911 calls is disparate and chaotic. The calls cover a timespan of over forty minutes. State’s Ex. 65. The calls begin at 9:20:19 PM and the last call, from Tonya Mills, is at 10:02:44 PM. Mills says on her call, Call #11, that Jones had been shot and that the shooting had been going on for the past thirty minutes. State’s Ex. 65. She also says “They were out there shooting,” but it is not clear who “they” are. State’s Ex. 65. The operator tells Mills that the police are en route and the officers can be heard arriving on the end of the call. State’s Ex. 65.

Call #3 and Call #8 could be from the same man. He is anonymous. In Call #3, at 9:31:25 PM, the man says there is a big party going on outside and that “People out pissing on the road and shit like that.” State’s Ex. 65. He says people are out firing off guns in front of the apartment building on Thornwell Court. State’s Ex. 65. He thought it was a revolver. State’s Ex. 65. If it

¹ State’s Exhibit 65 is an unusual piece of evidence. It contains eleven separate calls. Of the eleven calls, only two people are identified and the rest are anonymous. The woman on Call #9 gives her name as “Lindsey” and also gives her phone number. The woman on Call #11 is Tonya Mills. State’s Ex. 65. Mills is the only person who testifies at the trial whose call appears on State’s Exhibit 65.

is the same man on Call #8, which is twenty-eight minutes later at 9:59:32 PM, he says the big party is still going on, “and on, and on.” State’s Ex. 65. He says the gunshots are still going on. State’s Ex. 65.

The anonymous woman on Call #7 said she heard six shots and identifies Fortson as the shooter. State’s Ex. 65. A woman named “Lindsey” who gives her phone number and address on Call #9, but does not testify, says she believes a white woman just shot a black man “from what she was saying.” State’s Ex. 65.

The male caller on Call #4 described three shots coming from the front of the apartments. The female caller on Call #1 describes a lot of neighbors going inside and seeing a bunch of guys walking around and hanging around in front of the apartments. She heard four or five shots. State’s Ex. 65. Her anonymous call was at 9:20:19 PM. The woman on Call #6, at 9:53:58 PM, said she called fifteen minutes ago, that somebody was “shooting off a damn gun” and that it just happened again three more times. State’s Ex. 65. She also says there was a large party and that she heard a woman yelling “y’all better stop that stuff.” State’s Ex. 65.

Jury Selection is Held in Fortson’s Absence

Fortson’s trial began on May 17, 2021, with jury selection. R. 1 - 3, l. 23. After a few remarks to the potential jurors, Judge Hood said the following. “So, [defense counsel], we will put that pre-trial issue that we just discussed in chambers on the record after jury selection. But I will put on the record that you have made that motion at the appropriate time and do so at the appropriate time and you’re protected on that issue.” R. 3, l. 24 – 4, l. 4. The court then proceeded with voir dire and jury selection. R. 4, l. 7 – 57, l. 2.

Once the jurors departed, the court said “let’s go ahead and knock out this issue of Ms. Fortson’s lack of presence.” R. 57, l. 3 – 5. Defense counsel learned that morning that Fortson

had food poisoning and went to the doctor. R. 57, l. 3 – 63, l. 17. The trial judge then told the jurors to return at 2:00 which was when jury selection took place. R. 57, l. 8 – 13.

Defense counsel Williams stated that his motion “would have been for a continuance” and proffered that he had a note from a doctor on his cell phone stating that Fortson could “return to work/school on May the 19th.” R. 57, l. 25 – 58, l. 24. Judge Hood responded, “I believe you.” R. 58, l. 25. Defense counsel elaborated that Fortson “had been throwing up all night. It was both ways.” R. 59, l. 4 – 7. He instructed her to go to the doctor. R. 59, l. 15 – 20.

The court asked for the State’s position and the solicitor responded that Fortson had notice and they were ready to proceed. R. 59, l. 21 – 25. Defense counsel requested that they not resume the trial until Wednesday so that Fortson could be present. R. 60, l. 16 – 20. The solicitor discussed her logistical problems with witnesses and asked to do a hearing that afternoon and defense counsel agreed that holding the hearing without Fortson was “probably fine.” R. 61, l. 6 – 62, l. 7. Judge Hood then stated the trial would resume Wednesday morning and for defense counsel to tell Fortson that they would proceed without her if she did not come. R. 63, l. 5 – 9. Judge Hood then said, “This case is four years old.” R. 63, l. 11.

Discussion

The trial court erred in selecting the jury when Fortson was not present. One of the most basic rights contained in the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution is the right to be present at all stages of criminal proceedings. Illinois v. Allen, 397 U.S. 337, 338 (1970). Additionally, the right is guaranteed by the South Carolina Constitution:

The right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate. Any person charged with an offense shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial by an impartial jury; to be fully informed of the nature and cause of the accusation; to be confronted with the witnesses against him; to have compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in his favor, and to be fully heard in his defense by himself or by his counsel or by both.

S.C. Const. art. I, § 14.

As explained by the United States Supreme Court, “[j]ury selection is the primary means by which a court may enforce a defendant’s right to be tried by a jury free from ethnic, racial, or political prejudice.” Gomez v. United States, 490 U.S. 858, 873 (1989). It is also the time when a court enforces a defendant’s right to be tried by a jury free from “predisposition about the defendant’s culpability.” Id. The United States Supreme Court explained that voir dire is far from a simple administrative process; rather it “represents the jurors’ first introduction to the substantive factual and legal issues in a case[]” and “[t]o detect prejudices, the examiner ... must elicit from prospective jurors candid answers about intimate details of their lives.” Id. at 874-875. The court “must scrutinize not only spoken words but also gestures and attitudes of all participants to ensure the jury’s impartiality.” Id. at 875.

The Wisconsin Court of Appeals explained that “the interplay between potential jurors and a defendant, while often subtle, is both immediate and continuous.” State v. Harris, 601 N.W.2d 682, 688 (Wis. Ct. App. 1999). The Wisconsin court explained that the gestures and attitudes of jurors must be scrutinized to ensure impartiality and that “no transcript can recapture the atmosphere of the voir dire.” Id. In other words, the court must examine the potential jurors’ reactions to the defendant along with the questions being posed. A potential juror’s visceral reaction to a defendant is more revealing than any question-and-answer session. Similarly, New Jersey recognized that a defendant “is entitled to hear questions intended to disclose a juror’s bias, hostility or predisposition to believe or discredit the testimony of potential witnesses, and the juror’s answers so that he has the opportunity to assess the juror’s facial expressions and demeanor.” State v. Dishon, 687 A.2d 1074, 1081 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1997).

In State v. Rivers, 294 S.C. 123, 363 S.E.2d 105 (1987), the Court reversed because a defendant was excluded from the judge's in-chambers interview of jurors after a juror had been approached by a third party. Neither counsel nor the defendant was present and the Court stated the denial of the right to be present deprived the defendant of the ability to challenge the sufficiency of the trial judge's inquiry. Id.

In State v. Whaley, 290 S.C. 463, 351 S.E.2d 340 (1986), the Court refused to reverse because of a defendant's absence from a portion of voir dire. Without much discussion, the Court held the error was harmless. Unlike Whaley, Fortson missed all of voir dire and the selection of the jury. Also without much discussion, the Court in In the Interest of Dwayne M., 287 S.C. 413, 339 S.E.2d 130 (1986) reversed because the defendant was not present during examination of the victim. The Court stated that "under the facts of this case," the defendant's exclusion "cannot be regarded as harmless." Id.

Fortson's absence during jury selection was prejudicial and cannot be harmless in this case. The 911 calls and Fortson's testimony remove this case from application of the harmless error doctrine. Fortson's testimony directly contradicted Cruz and Jones and the jury needed to make a credibility judgment.

Fortson's presence to assist her lawyer during jury selection was also particularly important because of the racially charged evidence in this case. In addition to Cruz's testimony about hearing Fortson shout racial epithets, the lead investigator testified about offensive racial statements Fortson made to her. According to the investigator, he told Fortson the police were investigating a shooting when she let him into her house. R. 481, l. 4 – 10. Fortson supposedly responded by asking "if any of the porch monkeys had been hit." R. 488, l. 9 – 12. The officer claimed that

after he told Fortson a man had been shot, she responded “Good, I hope he dies even though I had nothing to do with it.” R. 488, l. 9 – 19.

Fortson said the officer was the first one to use “derogatory racial terms.” R. 566, l. 2 – 6. She was angry that the police were insinuating that she had anything to do with the shooting and used the same term back to the officer “just to be a smart ass, quite frankly.” R. 566, l. 1 – 8. She was tired of the officer repeating the slur. R. 566, l. 1 – 8. She denied saying “porch monkey” on cross-examination and said the exact slur the officer used was “yard ape.” R. 605, l. 16 – 24. She also denied saying she wanted to shoot Mexicans and Black people as Cruz claimed. R. 608, l. 12 – 15.

The solicitor’s closing argument began by using the theme of racial prejudice. R. 645, l. 12 – 646, l. 13. She repeated the word “hate” multiple times during the beginning of her closing and said the neighbors’ fences could not keep out Fortson’s “vile words.” R. 645, l. 12 – 646, l. 13. The solicitor said that hate spewed from her mouth and from her gun. R. 645, l. 12 – 646, l. 13.

With the racially charged evidence being central to the State’s case, Fortson needed to be at jury selection to see potential bias and attitudes among jurors for herself. Defense counsel only used four of his five peremptory strikes during jury selection. R. 40, l. 25 – 42, l. 4. Among the jurors seated on whom defense counsel did not use a strike were five jurors who were victims of crime or had family members who were victims of crime. Juror 44’s brother was murdered in Richland County. R. 24, l. 8 – 25, l. 6. Juror numbers 34, 209, 501, and 196 all were either crime victims or their family members were crime victims. R. 25, l. 8 – 20 (Juror 34). R. 26, l. , l. 3 – 17 (Juror 196). R. 28, l. 18 – 29, l. 10 (Juror 209). R. 29, l. 11 – 24 (Juror 501).

Most importantly, Juror 353's son was a police officer in Columbia. R. 18, l. 21 – 19, l. 9. Defense counsel did not use a peremptory strike on Juror 353. R. 39, l. 10 – 15. Fortson testified that she knew many police officers and that her father was a deputy for Richland County. R. 568, l. 11 – 569, l. 22. The State's allegations against Fortson for breach of peace of a high and aggravated nature were essentially for resisting arrest and shouting and kicking at police officers. R. 660, l. 23 – 661, l. 5. Fortson's testimony about the use of racial epithets was pitted directly against that of the lead investigator.

Fortson had a right to be present and assist counsel in the use of his peremptory strikes and assessment of potential jurors, especially jurors who had ties to the police. No issue of waiver of presence exists because the trial judge accepted her illness as the reason for her absence and used it as his reason to continue part of the trial. The judge should not have held the jury selection for the sake of expediency. Expediency must give way to the defendant's fundamental right to be present for jury selection. This error cannot be harmless and this Court should reverse.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse appellant's convictions and remand this case for a new trial.



David Alexander
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT