RECEIVED

Nov 16 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2021-000566

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Mandy Morrow Fortson,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Appellant's issue regarding her failure to be present for jury selection is not preserved for review on appeal. Further, she has failed to demonstrate any legitimate prejudice from her absence during jury selection.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **Appellant's issue regarding her failure to be present for jury selection is not preserved for review on appeal. Further, she has failed to demonstrate any legitimate prejudice from her absence during jury selection.**

Appellant contends the trial court reversibly erred in proceeding with jury selection without her being present. Significantly, the issue is never raised on the record to the circuit court. While counsel moved for a continuance of the trial, there is no indication he informed the court of his client's constitutional right to be present during jury selection or asked that jury selection not be performed until Wednesday when she could return. Additionally, Appellant has not demonstrated any prejudice from her failure to be present during the jury selection.

Preservation

In order to properly preserve an issue for review on appeal, the process has been succinctly stated with four basic requirements: "The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." Jean Hoefler Toal et al., Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed. 2002). "An appellate court may not, of course, *reverse* for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred." l'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 421–22, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (italics in original). This Court further announced: "imposing this preservation requirement on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." Id. at 422, 526 S.E.2d at 724; see also, State v. Jones, 435 S.C. 138, 145, 866 S.E.2d 558, 561 (2021) ("Preservation rules are intended to ensure that appellate courts

review considered decisions of our trial courts and that issues are not being raised for the first time on appeal.”).

“Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal.” Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011); see also, In re Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”); State v. Owens, 378 S.C. 636, 638, 664 S.E.2d 80, 81 (2008) (finding constitutional claims not preserved for review without a contemporaneous objection at trial); Beaufort County v. Butler, 316 S.C. 465, 451 S.E.2d 386 (1994) (observing that constitutional issues must be timely raised to be preserved for appeal).

On May 17, 2021, the State called this case to trial. Prior to jury selection or pre-trial hearings, the circuit court noted the parties discussed a matter in chambers and that the matter would be put on the record after jury selection. (5/17T.3-4; R.3-4). The court stated: “But I will put on the record that you have made that motion at the appropriate time and do so at the appropriate time and you’re protected for the record on that issue. We’ll flesh it out a little bit once we’re outside the presence of the jury.” (5/17T.4; R.4). Neither the court nor Appellant’s counsel noted the nature of the motion at that time. (5/17T.4; R.4).

The court then proceeded to jury selection. Again, Appellant’s counsel never noted for the record any objection to going forward with jury selection without his client present. (5/17T.4-43; R.4-43). Once jury selection was complete, the court asked counsel: “Any exceptions to the jury selection process?” Counsel for Appellant did not reiterate her constitutional right to be present as raised on appeal. Instead, he responded “None from the Defense, Your Honor.” (5/17T.43; R.43). After giving specific instructions to the selected

jurors, the court again asked if there was anything before the jury was excused and counsel again indicated: “Nothing from the Defense, Your Honor.” (5/17T.56; R.56).

Once the jury left, the court put on the record the circumstances surrounding why the discussion was in chambers and not on the record in the courtroom that morning. He then asked for information from Appellant’s counsel who specifically stated: “And, Your Honor, that argument would have been for a continuance, if I had done a motion that was made on the record at that time.” (5/17T.58; R.58). Again, counsel did not indicate he told the trial court that his client had a constitutional right to be present for jury selection and that jury selection needed to be postponed. He merely indicated he requested a continuance.

After a discussion of his client’s health concerns, counsel for Appellant explained she was cleared to return to work—or to court—on Wednesday, May 19. (5/17T.58-59; R. 58-59). The court asked for the State’s position, and the State never mentioned anything about jury selection. It solely discussed its readiness to go to trial. (5/17T.59-60; R.59-60). After the State’s presentation, the court specifically asked: “What is it you’re requesting, Mr. Williams?” (5/17T.60). Appellant’s counsel responded: “Judge, obviously, on behalf of my client, I request that we start Wednesday morning so that she can be present during the trial.” (5/17T.60; R.60). Once again, he did not make a single mention of the need to conduct jury selection while his client was present or ask the judge to do jury selection over on Wednesday.

The State noted the ability to do a Neil v. Biggers hearing prior to trial. The court asked whether they could proceed with the Biggers hearing and counsel stated: “Judge I think that’s probably fine. I don’t know that she needs to be present.” (5/17T.62; R.62). Ultimately, the court ruled: “Well, I say we go ahead and do the Biggers this afternoon and then we’ll start Wednesday morning. And Ms. Fortson needs to be told if she ain’t here, we’re going forward

without her.” (5/17T.63; R.63). Again after the ruling, Appellant’s counsel never mentioned the constitutional requirement for jury selection to be done in her presence.¹

The court clearly indicated a willingness to move trial to Wednesday, and it is entirely logical that, had counsel argued jury selection could not constitutionally proceed without Appellant present, the court would have continued it to Wednesday morning as well. The record demonstrates counsel made a general motion for a continuance, which he later indicated was a continuance so that his client could be “present during the trial.” It does not indicate that he raised the issue presented on appeal, that it was constitutionally required that his client be present for jury selection.

As a result, the issue raised by Appellant is not properly preserved for review on appeal. There is no indication in the record the trial court was informed of Appellant’s need to be present for jury selection. There is no indication Appellant’s counsel ever objected to selection going forward or asked that it be moved to Wednesday. Instead, the only request made was a request for a continuance so she could be present at trial. There is no discussion or argument on the record related to the constitutionality of her presence or absence at jury selection and the only inference that can be made from the record is that the court was considering simply a motion for continuance.²

¹ Counsel’s willingness to go forward without Appellant on the pre-trial matters demonstrates his continuance motion based on her need to be present did not relate to all stages of the prosecution, and instead, it only related to the trial itself.

² Additionally, even if there can be an inference from the record that counsel originally requested everything occur Wednesday and not proceed Monday, this does not preclude the possibility that he ultimately acquiesced in jury selection going forward just as he agreed to the Biggers hearing proceeding. As a result, this issue would be better addressed in Post-Conviction Relief where all discussions, arguments, and statements by the parties and their counsel in the off-the-record chambers meeting can be addressed.

Accordingly, because the trial court was never asked to consider the constitutionality of proceeding with jury selection in Appellant's absence, the issue is not one which should form the basis of a reversal. As the Supreme Court has explained:

The purpose of an appeal under our procedure is to determine if the lower court did something that it should not have done, or omitted doing something it should have done. A trial judge will not be reversed for failing to grant a motion on a ground that was not submitted to him.

Powers v. City of Aiken, 255 S.C. 115, 117, 177 S.E.2d 370, 371 (1970); see also, State v. Stone, 376 S.C. 32, 36, 655 S.E.2d 487, 488-489 (2007) ("If a pitch was never thrown at trial, we cannot review whether the trial court made the proper call."); State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) ("Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]").

Merits

A defendant has a right to be present to confront witnesses and at any critical stage pursuant to both the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. See U.S. Const. amend V and S.C. Const. art. I § 3. The United States Supreme Court has held:

The Court has assumed that, even in situations where the defendant is not actually confronting witnesses or evidence against him, he has a due process right "to be present in his own person whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge." Although the Court has emphasized that this privilege of presence is not guaranteed "when presence would be useless, or the benefit but a shadow," due process clearly requires that a defendant be allowed to be present "to the extent that a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by his absence." Thus, a defendant is guaranteed the right to be present at any stage of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome if his presence would contribute to the fairness of the procedure.

Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745 (1987) (quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 105-106 (1934)). The South Carolina Supreme Court has acknowledged the right: "A criminal

defendant has the right to be present at any stage of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome if his presence would contribute to the fairness of the procedure.” State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 624, 545 S.E.2d 805, 815 (2001).

The South Carolina Supreme Court had occasion to consider whether prejudice should be presumed by a defendant’s absence from a critical stage or whether he must demonstrate the prejudice in that particular case. The Court found “the ‘modern trend’ to be away from broad and sweeping presumptions to a particularized examination of prejudice in the individual case.” State v. Smart, 278 S.C. 515, 524, 299 S.E.2d 686, 691 (1982) (citing State v. Schifsky, 243 Minn. 533, 69 N.W.2d 89 (1955)). The Court has further explained: “Denials of a defendant’s right to be present, as well as other constitutional violations, are subject to a harmless error analysis. Although the right to be present is a substantial right, no presumption of prejudice arises from a defendant’s exclusion.” Shuler, 344 S.C. at 626, 545 S.E.2d at 816; see also, Bourne v. Curtin, 666 F.3d 411, 413 (6th Cir. 2012) (stating that the “right to personal presence at all critical stages of the trial” is “generally subject to harmless-error analysis”).

In a case in which the defendant was absent from a portion of voir dire conducted by the court, the Supreme Court acknowledged his right to be present was violated. See State v. Whaley, 290 S.C. 463, 351 S.E.2d 340 (1986). The Court indicated the jury was fair and impartial and that Appellant failed to demonstrate prejudice by his exclusion. The Court ultimately concluded: “Although the trial judge improperly excluded appellant from voir dire, we find the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. A criminal defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one.” Id. at 465, 351 S.E.2d 341 (citing Rose v. Clark, 478 U.S. 570 (1986)).

In the instant case, Appellant has again failed to demonstrate how the jury was not fair and impartial. She has not identified any witness she knew or who would have needed to be

removed based on connection of the juror to some aspect of her life. She has not shown how any decisions made by trial counsel during selection of the jury would have been different had she been present. Finally, and most significantly, once she was present at trial, she never identified any juror that would have had to be removed or that she would have removed had she been present for jury selection. As a result, she has failed to establish prejudice sufficient to warrant reversal, and this Court should find any error in her exclusion was entirely harmless.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.